2004

VESTIN MORTGAGE, INC., Appellant/
Petitioner and Plaintiff, vs. FIRST AMERICAN
TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY, Appellee and
Respondent and Defendant : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(a) because this is a review of a judgment from the Court of Appeals. The Court granted Vestin Mortgage, Inc.'s Petition for Writ of Certiorari on April 19, 2005. (R. 482.) The Court of Appeals' decision is designated as 2004 UT App 379, reported at 101 P.3d 398, and submitted herewith as Exhibit 1 to the Addendum.

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the Court of Appeals incorrectly conclude on a motion to dismiss that the title insurance policies at issue provide no coverage for damage caused to Vestin, even though First American failed to disclose the Eagle Mountain Special Improvement District and its intention to levy assessments, which was a recorded exercise of governmental police power that came within the scope of coverage?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Because the district court received and did not exclude relevant evidence outside the pleadings, First American's motion to dismiss "shall" be treated as a motion for summary judgment. Utah R. Civ. P. 12(b). Summary judgment is appropriate only when the record indicates there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c); *Clover v. Snowbird Ski Resort*, 808 P.2d 1037, 1039 (Utah 1991).

This Court reviews a grant of summary judgment for correctness, according no deference to the lower court's legal conclusions. *Id.* at 1039-40. In reviewing the lower court's ruling, this Court accepts the facts and inferences in the light most favorable to

the moving party. *Farmers New World Life Ins. Co. v. Bountiful City*, 803 P.2d 1241, 1243 (Utah 1990). If a genuine issue of material fact exists, this Court will reverse the grant of summary judgment and remand that issue for trial. *Atlas Corp. v. Clovis National Bank*, 737 P.2d 225, 229 (Utah 1989).

Under a Rule 12(b)(6) standard, alternatively, this Court accepts the factual allegations in the Complaint as true and considers them, along with all reasonable inferences to be drawn from those facts, in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Krouse v. Bower*, 2001 UT 28, ¶ 2, 20 P.3d 895, 897. Under this liberal standard, dismissal is only appropriate if it appears to a certainty that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts to make out a claim for relief. *Christensen v. Lelis Automatic Transmission Serv.*, 467 P.2d 605, 607 (Utah 1970); *Ivie v. Hickman*, 2004 UT App 469, ¶ 7, 105 P.3d 946. Because the propriety of a motion to dismiss is a question of law, this Court reviews a dismissal for correctness, giving no deference to the decision below. *Hebertson v. Willow Creek Plaza*, 923 P.2d 1389, 1392 (Utah 1996).

Questions of contract interpretation are questions of law for which this Court accords no deference to the conclusions reached below. *See Meadow Valley Contractors v. Transcon Ins. Co.* 2001 UT App 190, ¶ 13, 27 P.3d 594, 597. Whether a contract contains an ambiguity is a question of law reviewed for correctness. *WebBank v. American Gen. Annuity Serv. Corp.*, 2002 UT 88, ¶ 22, 54 P.3d 1139, 1145 (Utah 2002). If an ambiguity exists, the parties' intent is a factual issue for resolution by the trier of fact. *See id.*

PRESERVATION OF ISSUE BELOW

The issue presented in this appeal was preserved in the district court in Plaintiff's Memorandum in Opposition to Motion to Dismiss filed on August 13, 2003. (R. 234-244.) The issue was renewed in the Court of Appeals in the Brief of Appellant filed on March 2, 2004, at 14-33.

GROUND FOR REVIEW OF THE ALTERNATIVE "ENCUMBRANCE" ISSUE

In this appeal, Vestin presents, in the alternative, an argument that the recording of special improvement districts creates an "encumbrance" affecting the real property to be assessed. *See* Argument, *infra*, part I.A.1. Specifically, the Utah Legislature referred to it as an "encumbrance" in the Utah Municipal Improvement Act, Utah Code Ann. § 17A-3-307(6)(c). Vestin did not present this argument below. Pursuant to Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(5)(B), Vestin respectfully submits that the Court should consider this argument in this appeal for three reasons.

First, the Court of Appeals' decision directly conflicts with the Utah statute, calling for review by this Court to resolve an inconsistency between Utah statutory and case law. This Court has plenary power to consider those issues necessary to assure the correct application of Utah law. *See, e.g., State v. Marvin*, 964 P.2d 313, 318 (Utah 1998); *cf. State v. Irwin*, 924 P.2d 5, 7-11 (Utah App. 1996). Since no deference is given to the decision below, this Court undertakes a de novo review of the law. First American will have a full opportunity to brief and respond to this point. This Court should have the ability to consider all matters that affect the correct outcome of this case.

Second, this argument provides not only an independent alternative basis for Vestin's position but also a supportive basis for Vestin's primary position, which *was* briefed extensively below. Consequently, the Court's consideration of this argument is not in and of itself outcome determinative.

Third, the Legislature's reference to the recording of the notice as an "encumbrance" is not contained in the provision that was most directly at issue in this case (subsection (a) of Utah Code Ann. § 17A-3-307(6)) but rather in a corollary provision (subsection (c)). Vestin first noted the existence of the "encumbrance" language in its Petition for Writ of Certiorari, which was filed at the end of last year. Consequently, First American has had many months to prepare a response to this argument and is not prejudiced procedurally in any way.

In sum, Vestin respectfully suggests that this Court should consider all relevant law when deciding this important case, including the Legislature's reference to the recording at issue as an "encumbrance."

CONTROLLING PROVISIONS

One statutory provision and two rules of civil procedure are of substantial significance in this appeal: (1) The Utah Municipal Improvement Act, Utah Code Ann. § 17A-3-301 *et seq.*; and (2) Rules 12(b) and 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

First, the Utah Municipal Improvement Act provides, in pertinent part:

(a)(i)(A) If [a] governing body creates [a] special improvement district, it shall, within five days from the date of creating the district, record the original or a certified copy of the final approved resolution creating the district in the recorder's office of the county in which the district is located.

. . .

(c) If the governing body deletes any property to be assessed within the district after the district has been created, it shall issue and record a release and discharge of the recorded encumbrance created as a result of the recording required by this section in a form that includes the legal description and tax identification number of the property and otherwise complies with the recording statutes.

Utah Code Ann. § 17A-3-307(6) (emphasis added). A copy of the entire Utah Municipal Improvement Act is included in the Addendum hereto as Exhibit 9.

Second, Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b) provides, in pertinent part:

[T]he following defenses may at the option of the pleader be made by motion: . . . (6) failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. . . . If, on a motion asserting the defense numbered (6) to dismiss for failure of the pleading to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, matters outside the pleading are presented to and not excluded by the court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in Rule 56, and all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by Rule 56.

Utah R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) (emphasis added).

Third, Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 56 provides, in pertinent part:

A party against whom a claim . . . is asserted . . . may, at any time, move with or without supporting affidavits for a summary judgment in his favor as to all or any part thereof. . . .

. . . The judgment sought shall be rendered if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. . . .

Utah R. Civ. P. 56(b), (c).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This case is in this Court on a writ of certiorari to the Court of Appeals. This Court is called upon to review a claim for coverage under title insurance policies that failed to identify or exclude a special improvement district and its intent to levy assessments.

Course of Proceedings

On May 30, 2003, Vestin Mortgage, Inc. (“Vestin”) filed its Complaint in this action alleging breach of two title insurance policies issued by First American Title Insurance Company (“First American”) that insured Vestin’s title in two separate trust deeds. *See* Addendum Exhibits 3-5. (R. 1-52.)

On July 11, 2003, First American filed a Motion to Dismiss (sometimes hereafter “the Motion”) pursuant to Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6), asserting that Vestin’s Complaint failed to state a claim upon which relief could be granted. (R. 55-58.)

On August 13, 2003, Vestin filed Plaintiff’s Memorandum in Opposition to Motion to Dismiss. (R. 226-244.) In connection with Vestin’s opposition, Vestin filed the Affidavit of Daniel R. Stubbs (Addendum Ex. 6; R. 355-394) and the Affidavit of Thomas E. Lea (Addendum Ex. 7; R. 396-403). These Affidavits contained evidence relevant to First American’s Motion: they demonstrated that (a) it is industry practice for title insurance companies to identify special improvement districts, and (b) it was First American’s practice in other instances to identify the very special improvement district it failed to identify for Vestin.

On September 29, 2003, First American filed its Reply Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss. (R. 412-432.)

Disposition Below

On October 17, 2003, the district court heard oral argument on the Motion. (R. 433.) The court did not exclude the evidence submitted by Vestin. Nevertheless, on November 5, 2003, the court entered an order granting the Motion and dismissing the Complaint with prejudice. (Addendum Ex. 2; R. 434-436.)

On November 12, 2003, Vestin timely filed its Notice of Appeal. (R. 439-440.)

On October 28, 2004, the Court of Appeals issued an opinion, affirming the ruling of the district court. (Addendum Ex. 1.)

This Court then granted Vestin's Petition for a Writ of Certiorari to review the Court of Appeals' Opinion (cited hereafter as "Ct. App. Op."). (R. 482.)

Statement of Facts Relevant to the Issues Presented for Review

1. The Title Insurance Policies.

Vestin, or its predecessor, made two separate loans to The Ranches, L.C., a Utah limited liability company. (R. 227.) One loan was made on or about April 14, 2000, in the amount of \$1,965,000; a second loan was made on or about August 18, 2000, in the amount of \$1,800,000 (jointly the "Loans"). (R. 227.) The Loans were secured by two trust deeds (jointly referred to as the "Trust Deeds"). (R. 227.)

In connection with the Loans, First American issued two separate policies of title insurance: (i) Policy of Title Insurance No. 2701-A-49, dated April 26, 2000 ("Policy No. 2701"), insuring the title of Vestin (then known as Capsource, Inc. d/b/a Del Mar

Mortgage), and its successors and assigns, in the other of the Trust Deeds; and (ii) Policy of Title Insurance No. 3192-A-49, dated August 28, 2000 (“Policy No. 3192”), insuring the title of Vestin, its successors and assigns, in one of the Trust Deeds. (R. 247-287.) The Trust Deeds encumbered real property (the “Property”) located within the boundaries of the City of Eagle Mountain in Utah County. (R. 228.)

2. The Insuring Clauses of the Title Insurance Policies.

Three separate insuring clauses in the Policies and its endorsements are at issue in this matter.

The first is contained in the body of the Policies. It provides that First American insures against loss or damage incurred by Vestin based on any of the following:

- a. [a] defect in or lien or encumbrance on the title;
- b. unmarketability of the title; or,
- c. the priority of any lien or encumbrance over the Trust Deeds.

(R. 247, 267) (emphasis added).

The second relevant insuring clause is contained in an endorsement to the two Policies. First American issued Endorsement F.A., ALTA Form 31, containing the following insuring clause:

[First American] hereby insures against loss which [Vestin] shall sustain by reason of any of the following matters:

1. Any incorrectness in the assurances which [First American] hereby gives:

(a) There are no covenants, conditions, or restrictions under which the lien of the mortgage [of Vestin] can be cut off, subordinated, or otherwise impaired.

(R. 256, 276) (emphasis added).

Third, First American issued Endorsement CLTA Form 104 to both Policies. This Endorsement contains the third relevant insuring clause:

[First American] hereby insures [Vestin] against loss or damage which such insured shall sustain by reason of any of the following: ... The existence of any subsisting tax or assessment lien which is prior to the insured mortgage . . . , [and] the existence of other matters affecting the validity or priority of the lien of the insured mortgage....

(R. 259, 278) (emphasis added).

3. The Recorded “Police Power” Exception.

In addition to the three insuring clauses just identified, one exception to the Policies’ exclusions is directly relevant. Paragraph 1(b) of the “Exclusions From Coverage” in the Policies provides an exclusion from coverage for the exercise of governmental police power – and an exception to that exclusion if the police power exercise is recorded. The exclusion and exception are as follows:

The following matters are expressly excluded from the coverage of this policy and the Company will not pay loss or damage, costs, attorney’s fees or expenses which arise by reason of:

....

(b) Any governmental police power not excluded by (a) above [which addressed zoning and land use issues], except to the extent that a notice of the exercise thereof or a notice of a defect, lien or encumbrance resulting from a violation or alleged violation affecting the land has been recorded in the public records at Date of Policy.

(R. 248, 268) (emphasis added). The exception to the “police power” exclusion expressly provides that an exercise of governmental police power that is recorded comes within the coverage provided under the Policies.

4. The Creation of the Eagle Mountain Special Improvement District.

On June 20, 2000, Eagle Mountain City adopted a resolution declaring its intention to create a special improvement district to be known as The Eagle Mountain, Utah Special Improvement District No. 2000-1 (“Eagle Mountain SID” or “SID”). (R. 230, 289.) The expressed purpose of the Eagle Mountain SID was to construct certain improvements and assess the real property situated within its boundaries. (R. 230, 289.)

On August 1, 2000, Eagle Mountain City adopted Resolution No. 14-00, creating Eagle Mountain SID. (R. 230, 304-06.) The Property is located within the boundaries of the Eagle Mountain SID. (R. 231, 335-353.)

On August 4, 2000, in accordance with Utah Code Ann. § 17A-3-307, Eagle Mountain City caused to be filed in the Office of the County Recorder of Utah County a “Notice of Intention.” (R. 230, 309; Addendum Ex. 8.) The Notice of Intention gave notice that on June 20, 2000, the Town Council of Eagle Mountain City adopted a resolution declaring its intention to create the Eagle Mountain SID for the purpose of constructing improvements within the Eagle Mountain SID for a total cost of \$19,350,000, and assessing the real property within the boundaries of the Eagle Mountain SID for the cost of such construction (R. 230, 289.) The Notice of Intention also contained a copy of the Ordinance adopted August 1, 2000, creating the Eagle Mountain SID and proposed assessments. (R. 230, 289.) The Notice of Intention was recorded before the issuance of the second of the Policies and each of the relevant Endorsements to both Policies.

Eagle Mountain City subsequently adopted Assessment Ordinance No. 06-2001 (the “Assessment Ordinance”). (R. 230, 335-52.) Among other things, the Assessment Ordinance had the effect of “confirming the assessment rolls and levying an assessment against certain properties in Eagle Mountain, Utah Special Improvement District, Utah County, Utah, for the purpose of paying” various costs of construction of improvements within the Eagle Mountain SID. (R. 230, 337.) The total amount of the assessment was \$16,799,282 (the “Assessment”). (R. 230, 338.) The Assessment itself took place on April 25, 2001, after the issuance of both Policies and their relevant Endorsements.

Section 5(D) of the Assessment Ordinance provided for the acceleration of the Assessment amount upon the voluntary transfer of title:

To reduce the administrative costs of the District, the Town Council hereby determines that in the event legal title to all or any portion of the property assessed hereunder is voluntarily transferred to another person or entity which is unrelated to the prior owner, the owner of the assessed property shall be required to prepay that portion of the assessment applicable to the transferred parcel.

(R. 231, 340-341.)

Despite the fact the creation of the Eagle Mountain SID and the recording of the Notice of Intention occurred before the issuance of the second Policy or any relevant Endorsement, First American did not disclose to Vestin or except from Vestin’s coverage the Eagle Mountain SID, the Notice of Intention, or the intended assessment. (R. 231.) Vestin had no knowledge or information regarding the Eagle Mountain SID or the assessment prior to the execution of the Trust Deeds. (R. 231.)

5. The Effect of First American's Failure to Disclose and Except the Eagle Mountain SID from Coverage Under the Policies.

As a result of a default in the payment of indebtedness owed to Vestin and secured by the Trust Deeds, Vestin caused the Trustee of the Trust Deeds to conduct a Trustees' Sale of the Property and purchased the Property. (R. 231.) Vestin acquired title to the Property by Trustees' Deed. (R. 231.)

Vestin subsequently entered into an agreement to sell the Property to a third party. (R. 231.) In connection with Vestin's attempted sale of the Property to a third party, Vestin obtained a title report regarding the Property and discovered for the first time that the Property is located within the boundaries of the SID and subject to the Assessment. (R. 231.) Vestin also discovered at this time that upon the voluntary sale of the Property, an assessment of \$2,241,348.70 against the Property became immediately due and payable. (R. 232.) As a result of Vestin's disclosure to the third party that the Property is located within the boundaries of the Eagle Mountain SID and subject to the Assessment which would become immediately due and payable upon sale of the Property, the third party refused to proceed with the purchase of the Property. (R. 232.)

First American's failure to disclose the Eagle Mountain SID runs contrary to industry practice and its own practice. As a general industry practice, a preliminary title report and title policy will disclose as exceptions to coverage all actions by governmental entities or agencies that are empowered to assess or levy liens against the property, such as special improvement districts. (R. 232, 359.) In the case of a title insurance policy issued for protection of a lender's title interest, as in this case, this is especially important

because such an assessment can and does reduce the available equity in the property securing a loan. (R. 232, 359.)

Consistent with industry practice, First American, in a different transaction, issued a title insurance policy to Integrated Financial Associates prior to the Assessment Ordinance adopted by Eagle Mountain City regarding real property within the Eagle Mountain SID. In that policy, unlike the subject Policies, First American in fact specifically disclosed and excepted from coverage the Eagle Mountain SID that is the subject of this litigation. (R. 234, 396-397.)

Finally, First American disclosed to Vestin and excepted in the Policies a different Special Improvement District of Eagle Mountain City that had been created in 1998. (R. 18.) It did not, however, disclose or except the SID at issue.

6. Vestin's Complaint Against First American.

In its Complaint Vestin alleged, in pertinent part, that "First American agreed to insure Vestin and its assignees against loss or damage as a result of the title to the [Property] being encumbered or unmarketable, or otherwise subject to an assessment or other matters affecting the validity or priority of the lien of the Trust Deeds, but subject to the exceptions and exclusions in the Policy." (R. 9.)

The Complaint also alleged that First American insured Vestin against loss or damage "by reason of any defect in or lien or encumbrance on the title, the unmarketability of the title, the priority of any lien or encumbrance over the lien of the Del Mar Trust Deed, among other things; but subject to the exclusions and exceptions from coverage provided in" the Policies. (R. 5-6.)

Finally, the Complaint alleged “[t]he Special Improvement District and the Assessment issued in connection therewith is an encumbrance against the Parcels, renders the title unmarketable, and affects the priority of the Trust Deeds, contrary to the assurance and guaranties of First American in the Policies of Title Insurance” (R. 9.)

The Complaint alleged damage to Vestin as a result of First American’s breach of the covenants in the Policies. (R. 10.) The Policies were attached as exhibits to the Complaint. (R. 12-52.) Vestin demanded a jury in its Complaint. (R. 10.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

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