2003

Vestin Mortgage, Inc. v. First American Title Insurance Company : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

the few discussed by the court of appeals.¹⁹ In the face of the authority against it, Vestin fails to cite a single case in which the creation of a special improvement district or the

¹⁹ See, e.g., Butcher v. Burton Abstract & Title Co., 216 N.W.2d 434, 436 (Mich. Ct. App. 1974) (“Granting that the broadest definition of the word ‘encumbrance’ might include prospective charges, the general rule is that a special assessment does not become an encumbrance until it has achieved lien status.”); Cummins v. U.S. Life Title Ins. Co., 357 N.E.2d 975, 976 (N.Y. 1976) (holding that ordinance providing that city “shall levy a special assessment” was prospective only and did not create lien as of ordinance date); Cole v. Home Title Guar. Co., 244 N.E.2d 470 (N.Y. 1968) (holding that assessments approved before issuance of title policies but levied after issuance of policies became liens post-policy and therefore were excepted from coverage); Cole v. Home Title Guar. Co., 285 N.Y.S.2d 914, 915 (N.Y. App. Div. 1967) (denying coverage because assessments at issue did not become liens until after issuance of title policies); Mayers v. Van Schaick, 268 N.Y. 320, 322-24 (N.Y. 1935) (holding that title policy insuring against existence of “any and all requirements, liens, encumbrances and defects” as of policy date did not cover unpaid installments of special assessment which had not yet become liens as of the policy date); Dokel v. Title Guar. & Trust Co., 263 N.Y.S. 438, 439-40 (NY 1933) (holding that title policy insuring against “any defect or defects” did not cover an assessment that had “not become a lien at the time the policy was issued”); see also Metropolitan Life Ins. Co. v. Union Trust Co., 27 N.E.2d 225, 227 (N.Y. 1940) (holding that, because assessment had not become lien when policy was issued, assessment was not covered as a “lien” under the policy, nor was it a “charge” or “incumbrance” under the policy); Medeiros v. Guardian Title & Guar. Agency, Inc., 257 N.E.2d 644, 647 (Ohio Ct. App. 1978) (holding that assessment did not become final until day assessment ordinance was passed and therefore assessment was excluded from coverage under title guarantee as a lien attaching or created subsequent to date of guarantee); Barlow Burke, Law of Title Insurance § 3.05[A] at 3-80 to 3-81 (3rd ed. 2003) (stating that “only the levy and lien states, if occurring before the policy date, give rise to a claim, and the effective date of the lien—as occurring before or after the ‘date of policy’—is usually determinative of the matter”); 1 Joyce D. Palomar, Title Insurance Law § 5:5: at 5-20 (2003) (“Only if the property was levied against and a lien filed prior to the policy date will the insured have a claim for the amount of the special assessment.”); Lee R. Russ & Thomas F. Segalla, Couch on Insurance 3d § 159:36–37 (1998) (quoted by Vestin court at 2004 UT App 379, ¶11) (stating that title insurance policies “generally have been held to include coverage for assessments existing at the time that the insurance is issued, but not to cover assessments which are rendered after that time, even though the right to levy the assessment existed at the time of the insurance”); 43 Am. Jur. 2d Insurance § 526 (2002) (“A prospective or contingent encroachment or lien does not render the insurer liable.”); see also Burman v. Richmond Homes, Ltd., 821 P.2d 913, 921 (Colo Ct. App. 1991) (holding that title insurer “had no duty to disclose the existence of the improvement district at closing”).

contingent possibility of a future assessment has been held to be a “defect” under a title insurance policy. Vestin cites to Leh v. Burke, 331 A.2d 755 (Pa. 1974), for the proposition that “‘assessable benefits which have not yet become liens’ have been held to be ‘encumbrances.’” (Vestin Br. at 21.) Aside from the fact that Vestin does not claim coverage for the SID and SID Notice as “encumbrances,” Leh does not stand for this proposition. While Leh involved a very different set of facts and did not involve title insurance coverage, the case follows the principles adopted by the court of appeals and outlined in Edwards and Strass—namely, that the prospect of a future defect, lien or encumbrance is insufficient to create coverage under a title insurance policy.

In Leh, the issue was whether a covenant running with the land constituted a lien or encumbrance such that a grantor was liable under a warranty deed’s covenant against encumbrances. The covenant running with the land provided that, if a road adjoining the property is paved, the landowners must pay their proportionate share of the cost of the improvements. 331 A.2d 758. Shortly after the plaintiffs took title to the property, the road was paved but the plaintiffs refused to pay their share of the costs. They sued their grantor, alleging that the covenant related to road paving violated the deed’s covenant against encumbrances. Thus, the issue was whether the road-paving covenant was an “encumbrance” that their grantor had caused to burden the land at the time title transferred to the plaintiffs. Id. at 762.

The Leh court concluded that “a claim against the land conditioned on a future event . . . is not a lien or incumbrance on the title” since it only comes into existence if a future contingency occurs. Id. at 763 (citing Gilham v. Real Estate Title, Ins. & Trust Co., 52 A. 85 (1902)). The court observed that, at the time title transferred to the plaintiffs, the assessment for road paving could not be made unless a future condition occurred—namely, construction of the road. Consequently, “the claim could not exist at the time of transfer.” Id. at 763. The Leh court held that the road-paving covenant was not an encumbrance because “there can be no encumbrance on the land where the

assessment is not yet made, thus when the construction has not yet been completed, or even begun, no encumbrance exists which the grantor is obligated to discharge.” Id. at 763–64. As in Leh, Eagle Mountain had not levied the Assessment, completed construction of the improvements, or even started them. As in Leh, there is no coverage for the mere possibility of a future assessment.²⁰

The SID was a preliminary step in the lien creation process. When the Policies issued, a future assessment was a mere possibility. Both the fact and terms of the Assessment were unknown and unforeseeable. The court of appeals rightly followed the rule adopted by all courts and commentators that have considered this issue—namely,

²⁰ Vestin also cites the 110 year-old case of Lafferty v. Milligan, 30 A. 1030 (Pa. 1895), apparently for the proposition that assessments levied after title transfers can be an encumbrance. This case, like Leh, did not involve title insurance but instead the issue of whether street improvements were an “encumbrance” that fell within a deed’s covenant against encumbrances. Id. at 1031. The court defined an “encumbrance” as “every right or interest in the land which may subsist in third persons to the diminution of the value of the land, but consistent with the passing of the fee by the conveyance.” Id. at 1031. Solely because the street improvements *had been completed* over two years before the conveyance, the court concluded that a “burden or incumbrance was imposed upon this lot for this improvement, to be made a specific lien in amount, as soon as the proceedings to ascertain the amount were completed.” Id. at 1032. Thus, because the city had completed improvements, they obviously would have to be paid for, and therefore there was “a legal right or claim in a third person, the city, on this lot.” Id.

The outcome in Lafferty is identical to that in Bel-Air Motel Corp. v. Title Ins. Corp. of Penn., 444 A.2d 1119 (N.J. Sup. Ct. 1981), a New Jersey trial court decision that is the only case that Vestin has cited involving an assessment lien. (Vestin Br. at 29–30.) The court of appeals considered the Bel-Air decision and appropriately rejected it. Vestin, 2004 UT App 379, ¶15. As in Lafferty, in Bel-Air, the city had *completed* the improvements. The city subsequently levied an assessment that was overturned shortly before the title policy issued. The city levied a reassessment after the policy date. The New Jersey trial court concluded that there was a defect in title created “when the improvement was completed.” Id. at 1122. The court reasoned that “[t]he fact that the local improvement had been completed made the eventual assessment of the property a certainty. The only question then remaining was the amount of the assessment.” Id. Both Lafferty and Bel-Air are consistent with the rule adopted and followed by the court of appeals and all of the commentators and reported cases—namely, that there is coverage for a lien, encumbrance, or defect only if it is not contingent or uncertain on the effective date of the policy. Here, the Assessment was contingent and uncertain and therefore there is no coverage under the Policies.

that the mere prospect of a future assessment is not a covered “defect.” This Court should affirm.

2. Construing “Defect” to Include the SID and SID Notice Would Render Meaningless Other Key Policy Provisions.

Vestin’s contention that the SID and SID Notice are “defects” violates a fundamental principle of contract construction that Vestin itself acknowledges—namely, that in construing a contract, the court is to “harmonize and give effect to all of [its] provisions.” Dixon v. Pro Image Inc., 987 P.2d 48, 52 (Utah 1999); accord Fuller v. Director of Finance, 694 P.2d 1045, 1048 (Utah 1985). This Court must consider each contract provision “in relation to all others.” Willard Pease Oil & Gas Co. v. Pioneer Oil & Gas Co., 899 P.2d 766, 770 (Utah 1995). This principle applies equally to title insurance policies. See First American Title Ins. Co. v. J.B. Ranch, Inc., 966 P.2d 834, 836 (Utah 1998).

Paragraph 3(d) of the Policies’ exclusions from coverage states that “[d]efects, liens, encumbrances, adverse claims or other matters . . . attaching or created subsequent to Date of Policy” are “expressly excluded” from coverage. Similarly, the Form 104 Endorsement insures “against loss or damage . . . by reason of . . . [t]he existence of any *subsisting* tax or assessment lien.” Creation and notice of a special improvement district are preliminary steps in the process of levying an assessment lien. If Vestin were correct in arguing that these preliminary steps constitute “defects,” then the foregoing exclusion and endorsement would become meaningless. In other words, if an early step in the process of creating an assessment lien were a covered “defect,” the Policies’ requirements that the lien exist pre-policy would be meaningless, allowing an insured to avoid the requirement that a lien exist or attach pre-policy. The meaning of “defect” cannot be so broad as to nullify other provisions of the Policies.

3. Section 17A-3-307(6)(c) Should not be Used to Construe the Term “Defect” in the Policies.

For the first time, Vestin contends that the decisions of the trial court and court of appeals conflict with a Utah statute. Vestin refers to Utah Code Ann. section 17A-3-307(6)(c), which uses the word “encumbrance” as a short-hand way of referring to the recorded “final approved resolution creating the district.” (Vestin Br. at 20.) Vestin argues that, because the legislature “has referred to the recording of the SID as an ‘encumbrance,’ the Court of Appeals’ decision holding it was not a ‘defect, lien, or encumbrance’ is demonstrably wrong.” (*Id.* at 21.) The Court should reject Vestin’s argument premised on section 17A-3-307(6)(c) for at least four reasons: (1) Vestin did not present the argument to the lower courts and therefore Vestin waived it on appeal; (2) Vestin does not argue that the SID or SID Notice were encumbrances and therefore the statute is irrelevant to the meaning of “defect” under the Policies; (3) there is no conflict between the statute and the court of appeals’ actual holding; and (4) the “encumbrance” language in the statute is irrelevant to any issues before this Court.

To preserve an argument on appeal, an appellant must raise the argument before the lower court. Failure to raise and preserve an argument waives the argument on appeal.²¹ Vestin concedes that it failed to raise below its argument premised on section

²¹ Carrier v. Salt Lake County, 2004 UT 98, ¶43 (“[A]s a general rule we decline to address issues raised for the first time on appeal.”); Bd. of Trs. v. Keystone Conversions, LLC, 2004 UT 84, ¶32 (“Absent plain error or extraordinary circumstances, we do not address issues raised for the first time on appeal.”); State v. Bisner, 2001 UT 99, ¶39, 37 P.3d 1073, 1085 (“Bisner failed to properly preserve this claim at the trial level, and thus waived his right to raise the issue on appeal.”); DeBry v. Cascade Enters., 935 P.2d 499, 502 (Utah 1997) (appellants’ failure to raise on appeal issues that were ripe for appeal results in “waiver of their right to raise them at a later time”).

17A-3-307(6)(c). (Vestin Br. at 20.)²² The argument should not be considered by this Court.

Apart from Vestin's failure to raise the section 17A-3-307(6)(c) argument below, the Court should reject the argument because Vestin does not contend that the SID or SID Notice were "encumbrances." Consequently, the statute's use of the term is irrelevant to the meaning of "defect" under the Policies. In its briefs and argument to the court of appeals, Vestin went to great lengths to emphasize that Vestin *was not* contending that the SID or the SID Notice were "encumbrances," stating: "Vestin does not claim coverage under either the 'lien' or 'encumbrance' provisions of the Policies." (Vestin Opening Br. at 22 n.7; see also Vestin Reply Br. at 1.) Indeed, Vestin's main argument for distinguishing the authorities cited by First American has been to contend that those authorities are inapposite because they deal with liens and encumbrances, not "defects." (Vestin Opening Br. to Ct. App. at 23–24; Vestin Reply to Ct. App. at 3–4.)

In its brief to this Court, however, Vestin now claims that "defect" is a broad term that encompasses "encumbrance" and that if something is an "encumbrance" it also is a "defect." (Vestin Br. at 21.) Vestin cannot have it both ways: the SID and SID Notice

²² Vestin contends that, although it failed to raise the statute below, the Court has "plenary power" to interpret Utah law. (Vestin Br. at 20–21.) In support, Vestin cites Covington v. Board of Review, 737 P.2d 207, 209 (Utah 1987), for the proposition that the Court has plenary power to review "most questions of statutory construction." (Vestin Br. at 21.) The language quoted in Covington does not stand for the broad proposition stated by Vestin. Instead, the language simply refers to the standard of review to be applied to decisions by administrative agencies construing statutes, which review is "plenary with no deference accorded the administrative agency's determination." Covington, 737 P.2d at 209. The other cases that Vestin cites in support of its "plenary power" argument are criminal appeals involving the plain error and exceptional circumstances doctrine. (Vestin Br. at 3 (citing but not discussing State v. Martin, 964 P.2d 313, 318 (Utah 1998) (plain error) and State v. Irwin, 924 P.2d 5, 7–11 (Utah Ct. App. 1996) (discussing plain error and exceptional circumstances doctrine). Vestin does not argue that its failure to raise the section 17A-3-307(6)(c) argument is excused under the doctrines of plain error or exceptional circumstances. These cases are inapposite.

cannot be “defects” for purposes of attempting to distinguish the weighty authority against it, while simultaneously being “encumbrances” for purposes of an eleventh hour argument that the court of appeals’ decision conflicts with an unrelated statute. And aside from contradicting its arguments before the trial court and court of appeals, as well as statements made elsewhere in its brief to this Court,²³ Vestin’s claim that an encumbrance is a “defect” violates the rule of contract construction requiring a court to give effect to all of a contract’s provisions. Green River Canal Co. v. Thayn, 2003 UT 50, ¶30. Under Vestin’s argument, the Policies’ use of the term “encumbrance” becomes meaningless.

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